University of Miami Scholarly Repository

Open Access Theses

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2013-06-17

Effects of Glucose Levels on Glucose Consumption and Viability of Chondrocytes and Intervertebral Disc Cells

Garrett R. Waggoner University of Miami, g.waggoner@umiami.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarlyrepository.miami.edu/oa_theses

Recommended Citation

Waggoner, Garrett R., "Effects of Glucose Levels on Glucose Consumption and Viability of Chondrocytes and Intervertebral Disc Cells" (2013). *Open Access Theses*. 429. https://scholarlyrepository.miami.edu/oa_theses/429

This Open access is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at Scholarly Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Open Access Theses by an authorized administrator of Scholarly Repository. For more information, please contact repository.library@miami.edu.

UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI

EFFECTS OF GLUCOSE LEVELS ON GLUCOSE CONSUMPTION AND VIABILITY OF CHONDROCYTES AND INTERVERTEBRAL DISC CELLS

By

Garrett R. Waggoner

A THESIS

Submitted to the Faculty of the University of Miami in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Coral Gables, Florida

June 2013

©2013 Garrett R. Waggoner All Rights Reserved

UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

EFFECTS OF GLUCOSE LEVELS ON GLUCOSE CONSUMPTION AND VIABILITY OF CHONDROCYTES AND INTERVERTEBRAL DISC CELLS

Garrett R. Waggoner

Approved:

Chun-Yuh Charles Huang, Ph.D. Professor of Biomedical Engineering M. Brian Blake, Ph.D. Dean of the Graduate School

Alicia R. Jackson, Ph.D. Assistant Professor of Biomedical Engineering

Weiyong Gu, Ph.D. Professor of Mechanical Engineering

WAGGONER, GARRETT R. <u>Effects of Glucose Levels on Glucose</u> <u>Consumption and Viability of</u> Chondrocytes and Intervertebral Disc Cells.

Abstract of a thesis at the University of Miami.

Thesis supervised by Professor Chun-Yuh Charles Huang. No. of pages in text. (66)

Lower back pain (LBP) and cartilage-related diseases such as osteoarthritis (OA) have a tremendous financial impact on the world today. It is well-understood that the provision of glucose to these avascular regions of the body plays a large role in the sustenance of health and the prevention of pathogenic processes. In order to undertake innovative approaches to allow for glucose-involved cell therapeutics and to enhance a wide range of stem cell therapies, we need to better understand avascular cell metabolism.

In this study, annulus fibrosus (AF), nucleus pulposus (NP), and cartilage cells were placed in agarose gel constructs and incubated in varying concentrations of glucose for up to 12 days. Live cell density was quantified using a viability staining technique at varying time points. The stained samples were imaged and cropped using a standard area, and the cells in each image were counted using ImageJ. Cell density results indicated that cell viability can be maintained at 0.5 mM glucose for all cell types. NP cells appeared to lose viability when incubated in high concentrations of glucose medium. There was a statistically significant drop in cell density of NP cells incubated in 3.2 g/L vs. those in 0.1 g/L glucose medium.

Glucose consumption was analyzed using a glucose assay kit in conjunction with absorbance readings from a spectrophotometer. AF cells consumed the most glucose in the first 24 hours of culture, followed by NP cells and then chondrocytes. The amount of glucose consumed increased for all cell types when cultured in higher concentrations of glucose.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	v
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Glucose	1
1.2 Chondrocytes	
1.3 Intervertebral Disc Cells.	9
1.4 Therapeutics	
1.5 Rationale of Current Study	27
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS	30
2.1 Cell Isolation and Expansion	30
2.2 Chondrocyte Experiment	31
2.2.1 Dilutions and Culture	31
2.2.2 Viability Staining and Imaging	32
2.2.3 Cell Counting.	
2.3 AF and NP Cell Experiment	33
2.4 Glucose Assay	34
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS	36
3.1 Preliminary Measurements	36
3.1.1 Cell Count Calibration	
3.1.2 SHED Survivorship Curve	
3.1.3 Temporal Analysis of Survival	37
3.1.4 Equilibrium Response	
3.1.5 Glutamine Deprivation	39

3.2 Cell Viability	40
3.2.1 Chondrocyte Viability	
3.2.2 Nucleus Pulposus Cell Viability	
3.2.3 Annulus Fibrosus Cell Viability	
3.3 Glucose Consumption	44
3.3.1 Chondrocyte Consumption	44
3.3.2 Nucleus Pulposus Cell Consumption	
3.3.3 Annulus Fibrosus Cell Consumption	
3.3.4 Cell Type Comparison	
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	
4.1 Cell Viability	
4.2 Glucose Consumption	49
4.3 Conclusion	
4.4 Limitation of Current Study	51
4.5 Future Studies	
REFERENCES	53

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: AOI Standard Curve	36
Figure 2: SHED Viability	37
Figure 3: Temporal SHED Viability	38
Figure 4: Temporal Chondrocyte Viability	39
Figure 5: Chondrocyte Viability in Glutamine Deprivation	39
Figure 6: Chondrocytes Incubated in 0.55 mMol Glucose	40
Figure 7: Chondrocytes Incubated in 1.1 mMol Glucose	40
Figure 8: Chondrocytes Incubated in 2.2 mMol Glucose	41
Figure 9: Chondrocytes Incubated in 4.4 mMol Glucose	41
Figure 10: Chondrocytes Incubated in 8.9 mMol Glucose	42
Figure 11: Chondrocytes Incubated in 17.8 mMol Glucose	42
Figure 12: NP Cell Viability	43
Figure 13: AF Cell Viability	43
Figure 14: Chondrocyte Glucose Consumption	44
Figure 15: NP Cell Glucose Consumption	45
Figure 16: AF Cell Glucose Consumption	46
Figure 17: Glucose Consumption Comparison	47

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Glucose

As a fundamental metabolite for every living cell, glucose provides freely obtainable energy to cells in the form of simple sugars, intermediary molecules, and macromolecular compounds. In addition to an energy source, glucose can be utilized as a building block of carbon skeletons for the synthesis of other molecules such as glycogen, proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids.¹ For example, hexose sugars are used as components of glycoproteins such as the proteoglycans that assist in providing the structure of certain extracellular matrices of cartilage. These proteoglycans also perform adhesive functions, transfer information in a paracrine-like fashion, and determine the microcirculation of their tissues. Due to its metabolic relevancy, the presence of glucose is key to the viability and healthy functioning of cells, particularly in avascular tissues.

1.2 Chondrocytes

Articular cartilage is a type of hyaline cartilage that covers the surfaces of diarthrodial joints, allowing for smooth mobility.^{2,3} The connective tissue is classified as aneural, avascular, alymphatic, and hypocellular. Working along with the synovial fluid within the joint, it allows for nearly frictionless movement between the components within the joint. Specifically, the role of this cartilaginous tissue is to bear the load of the compressive forces involved in normal joint movement and to distribute this load to a broader surface area. It is able to accomplish these tasks due to its tensile strength and elasticity,²

1

Cartilage tissue contains chondrocytes that are responsible for the production of the macromolecular framework that allows for the flexible nature of the tissue.⁴ This framework consists of collagens, proteoglycans, and other noncollagenous proteins. The matrix provides protection for the cells from day-to-day use of the joint, determines the permeability of the tissue, serves as a mechanical signal transducer, and sustains the phenotype of the chondrocytes. The chondrocytes perform tissue remodeling to replace degraded macromolecules and are responsible for the synthesis of each component of the extracellular matrix (ECM). Aging decreases chondrocytes' abilities to regenerate these matrix components, leading to articular cartilage degeneration.³ The chondrocytes are able to detect changes in the articular cartilage matrix, queuing it to anabolically or catabolically alter the matrix. They use this structural remodeling technique to replace lost macromolecules during cartilage degeneration.⁵ By receiving mechanical, electrical, and chemical signals from their environment, they control their production of collagens, proteoglycans, and noncollagenous proteins as they remodel the ECM.²

Articular cartilage is composed of horizontal layers, or zones, containing cells with varying characteristics. From the surface to interior, they are the superficial, transitional, deep, and calcified zones. The sizes, shapes and metabolic pathways within the cells vary according to their depth, and cell density is greatest near the surface of the tissue.⁶ The contents comprising the extracellular matrix also vary according to tissue depth. Tissue fluid and the collagens, proteoglycans and other proteins make up the macromolecular cartilage matrix. The fluid, containing electrolytes, gases, small proteins, and metabolites, interacts with the macromolecules

to give the rigidity of the matrix to compressive forces.² The pericellular, territorial, and interterritorial regions surrounding each chondrocyte are used to describe the distribution of hyaluronic acid, linkage proteins, and proteoglycans.⁷ These regions provide the structural properties to self-sustain during mechanical loading.⁸ Through the interactions of these components, the ECM is able to provide structural integrity to the cartilage tissue.

A large contributor to this integrity is collagenous protein. Specifically, type II collagen makes up 80% to 90% of the total collagen in the matrix and interacts with other collagen types to form a sort of endoskeleton within the cartilage.² Microfibrillar type VI collagen⁹, which is located in the pericellular matrix and stratifies the territorial and interterritorial regions¹⁰, is thought to be responsible for chondrocyte attachment to the backbone of the matrix.² Aggrecans, or proteoglycan aggregates, make up 90% of the proteoglycan structure within cartilage tissue. They are durable and swell in solution, making them able to uphold under mechanical loading. They are bound to and stabilized by hyaluronic acid and link protein.¹¹ These linkages determine the level of incorporation of aggrecan in the ECM. Chondrocytes produce hyaluronic acid in response to environmental stimuli in order to determine aggrecan retention.⁷ The ability of articular chondrocytes to undergo reversible deformation in response to compressive forces originates from the distribution of the collagenous network. Retention of the proteoglycan matrix in solution permits the pressure response involved in this deformation.¹² The collagen turnover rate is much slower than that of the proteoglycans and other components of the macromolecular framework. Macromolecular products of this turnover are continually released into

the synovial cavity, eventually reaching the cardiovascular system. For this reason, they may be used as a measuring tool for metabolic deviations.¹³

Along with lubricating the joint, the synovial fluid provides nutrition and eliminates waste in the area through diffusion. This is necessary due to the avascular and alymphatic nature of cartilaginous tissue. The synovial fluid, produced by synoviocytes, consists of electrolytes, nutrients such as glucose, small molecules, and metabolic waste products including carbon dioxide and oxygen.² Nutrients like glucose must diffuse through both the synovial membrane and the cartilage matrix to be used by the cells.¹⁴ The size and charge of the molecules passing through the matrix, as well as the organization and composition of the matrix (especially the concentration, composition, and concentration of large proteoglycans), determine the rate diffusion.¹⁵ Monovalent and divalent ions, glucose, amino acids, and water normally pass through the ECM. These nutritional factors play an integral role in the development, maintenance, repair, and remodeling of the cartilage by the chondrocytes.

Glucose is considered to be an essential metabolite and structural component of cartilage, and its sustained delivery and uptake are pertinent to the growth and proper functionality of the tissue.¹⁶ Because nutrients must diffuse through the synovium and ECM before reaching the chondrocytes, the cells must be able to survive in moderately low glucose concentrations.¹⁵ Nevertheless, chondrocytes are highly glycolytic and require a sustained supply of glucose for proper cellular homeostasis.¹⁷ They consume glucose for the production of ATP and utilization of sulfated sugars such as glucosamine sulfate for the production of the ECM. There exist channels

within synovial joints to provide nutrients to metabolically active chondrocytes that are distant from blood circulation. The distance from chondrocytes to the nearest capillary can be over 1 cm, as in the human knee.¹⁸ Fenestrations within capillaries that are oriented toward the synovial joint space to allow for more efficient diffusion are insufficient in supplying chondrocytes near the calcified layer with enough glucose. Therefore, spaces within the cartilage provide the microcirculation necessary for large substances such as glucose to reach the deeper chondrocytes in the tissue. This is generally aided by dynamic mechanical loading on the joint during physical activity. Interestingly, regular exercise has been shown to reduce progression of osteoarthritis (OA) in mice by breaking up cytokine clusters and improving overall glucose tolerance.¹⁹

It is common that OA occurs concurrently with endocrine dysfunction associated with glucose imbalance, such as diabetes mellitus. Studies have suggested that metabolic disorders involving glucose imbalance trigger cartilage degeneration.¹ Even minor changes in the concentration of glucose within the microenvironment immediately surrounding the chondrocytes can directly cause impairment of IGF-1mediated anabolic activities. Poor management of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus can lead to this glucose depletion or elevation and can progress to further pathologies in the cartilage tissue. Because of the role of glucose in the viability of chondrocytes and as a building block of the chondrocyte-generated macromolecular matrix, the importance of sustaining physiological levels of glucose should not be underrated with regard to cartilage dysfunction. The main cause of joint-related disability in both human and animal OA is a general loss of cartilage.²⁰ OA is the most common non-inflammatory disorder of movable joints, specifically favoring large, weight-bearing joints. Characteristics of OA include atypical synthesis of cartilage ECM, gradual reduction of cellular density, subsequent fragmentation and degradation of the cartilage, peri-articular osteophytosis, an initial decrease followed by an increase in subchondral bone density, and inconstant synovial inflammation.²⁰

Principally, OA is the clinical phenotype of various connective tissue function abnormalities coupled with abnormal chondrocyte behavior. Often observed in cartilage degeneration are the overwhelmed reparative capabilities of the chondrocytes, and the cellular activities in OA manifest in a convalescent and catabolic manner. Cartilage lesions are initiated by mechanical stress, shifting the interaction between chondrocytes and the surrounding matrix as well as the metabolic activity of the chondrocytes themselves.²¹ In the early stages of OA, the water and proteoglycan content of the matrix increases during a transient proliferation of chondrocytes. The cellular topography of the chondrocytes changes according to their increasingly undifferentiated nature, causing them to cluster. Collagen type X, which is typically produced in fully differentiated chondrocytes, has been shown to surround these clusters in osteoarthritic cartilage. The up-regulated production of collagen type X in spite of their undifferentiated nature indicates a self-reparative approach within the damaged tissue.²² Although generally recognized as a self-regulated attempt to minimize cartilage degeneration, chondrocyte proliferation is rarely sufficient to

combat degradation. This chondrocyte cloning is typically followed by apoptosis and reduced cell density.²³

In early OA, chondrocytes and synoviocytes release catabolic coenzymes, including IL-1B, IL-6, and TNF- α which induce matrix-degrading enzymes, including matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and aggrecanase. These are responsible for articular cartilage matrix degradation.²⁴ As the MMPs begin to overpower its tissue inhibitors, the imbalance causes the activation of the MMPs, potentially contributing to cartilage degeneration. In addition, IL-1B may trigger depletion of the ECM by decreasing production of cartilaginous proteoglycans and collagen type II.²⁵ To note, elevated levels of IL-1 β systemically stimulate glucose transport and metabolism, instigating hypoglycemia and diminishing glucose-induced insulin secretion.²⁶ Stimulated glucose metabolism has been reported as an effect of IL-1ß in articular cartilage.²⁷ Once the matrix is degraded, a repair matrix is formed by the chondrocytes that is ineffective at withstanding mechanical loading. Especially in concentrated areas of proteoglycan depletion, the ECM is broken down in an accumulation of vertical, oblique, and tangential clefts.1 In addition, chondrocyte apoptosis intensifies tissue degeneration.

OA is both multifactorial and polygenic in nature. The anabolic and catabolic components arise from various mechanical, biochemical, and systemic origins.¹ Poor nutrition is generally regarded as a substantial contributing factor to the pathogenesis of joint disorders in both humans and animals.^{28,29} Because nutrition plays a large role in the catabolic-anabolic balance of cartilage tissue, it is important to comprehend both systemic glucose metabolism and the pathophysiology of malnourished

chondrocytes to unveil the origins of articular cartilage disorders. Catabolic and proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 β , are responsible for the progression of the disease, while anabolic factors, such as IGF-1, are involved in the chondrocyte's mitosis and synthesis of the macromolecular matrix as well as the inhibition of catabolism. One direct connection between diet and cartilage remodeling is the reduction of certain IGF-1 binding proteins that carry the growth factor in circulation.³⁰ It has been shown that IGF-1 sensitivity declines with age and that osteoarthritic joints do not respond as well to IGF-1 stimulation.³¹ This "IGF-1resistant state" involves insulin/IGF-1 signaling and glucose metabolism in the development of OA.³² Also, studies report that articular chondrocytes express the obese *OB-R gene*, forming the leptin receptor *in situ*.³³ Chondrocytes that are stimulated by leptin display enhanced proliferation and macromolecular components of the ECM. Elevated levels of leptin expression have been reported in chondrocytes near capillary blood vessels intruding upon hypertrophic cartilage.³⁴ It is believed that through regulation of angiogenesis, leptin affects cartilage formation and therefore remodeling directly.

Another articular cartilage disorder, osteochondritis dissecans (OCD), involves the fragmentation of cartilage tissue as pieces break off from the surface into the joint space.³⁵ Excess protein and carbohydrate consumption and excessive supplementation have been shown to be prominent contributors to the progression of the disorder in food-producing animals.³⁶ It stands to reason that proper nutritional management would suppress the development and progression of OCD.³⁷ Additionally, researchers are optimistically looking into the modulation of nutrient transporters as a means of prevention for the treatment and cure of OCD, OA, as well as other joint diseases. This is an indication of the therapeutic potential in managing the glucose availability of chondrocytes.

In summary, an imbalance between cartilage repair and degradation causes the loss of components within the macromolecular matrix, including proteoglycans and collagen type II. Due to the importance of IGF-1 and other signals responsible for the regulation of this balance, and the association between these signals with dietary factors and diet-related pathologies, it is widely understood that proper nutrient delivery within cartilage tissue and its provision to the chondrocytes themselves is pertinent to the health of the tissue.

1.3 Intervertebral Disc Cells

Lying between vertebral bodies, intervertebral discs (IVDs) hold the spinal column together. They occupy about one third of the length of the spine, and they must efficiently transmit mechanical loads arising from body weight and other forces during movement. Functioning as joints in the spinal column, they allow for bending, torsion, and flexion.³⁸ The discs are usually 7-10 mm thick and about 4 cm in diameter. A thick outer ring of fibrous cartilage, known as the annulus fibrosus (AF), surrounds a gelatinous interior called the nucleus pulposus (NP). The NP is located in between cartilage end-plates above and below the disc.³⁸

One difference between the AF and NP regions is the organization of the fibers that make up the tissue. The NP contains collagen fibers that are laid out randomly and elastin fibers aligned radially.³⁹ A highly hydrated matrix containing aggrecan surrounds the fibers. The cells in the region, similar to chondrocytes, are

scattered throughout at a low density of about 5000/mm³.⁴⁰ The border between the NP and AF regions is distinctive in children under 10 years of age and gradually becomes more uniform during the aging process.

The annulus is composed of approximately 20 lamellae, which are rings that have collagenous fibers running parallel with each other.⁴¹ The ring formations alternate in orientation in each adjacent lamellae. Elastin fibers that are positioned between the lamellae likely bind the lamellae to one another and serve to return the disc to its neutral arrangement after a flexion or extension.³⁹ AF cells tend to be more like fibroblasts in character with a thin, elongated shape. They are oriented parallel to the collagen fibers. The cells become more ovular toward the inner lamellae. Unlike chondrocytes located in articular cartilage, cells of both the AF and NP regions are apt to contain many long, slim projections that are typically 30 µm in length.^{42,43} Many presume that they communicate within the tissue regarding mechanical strain.⁴² Located above and below each IVD are cartilaginous end-plates. These layers are composed of hyaline cartilage and are usually thinner than 1 mm.³⁸

Although healthy adult IVDs are considered almost completely aneural, they do contain some nerves in the outer AF lamellae that often adjoin to proprioceptors.⁴⁴ However, similar to other hyaline cartilage such as articular cartilage, the endplates are aneural and avascular in a typical healthy adult. Vessels extending from the spinal artery exist in longitudinal ligaments alongside the IVD. In children under 12 months of age, these vessels extend into the cartilage endplate.³⁸ Branches of the sinuvertebral nerve or divisions of the ventral rami or grey rami communicantes can

10

accompany the vessels or exist in the tissue independently. Many of these nerves are myelinated.⁴⁵

The disc's mechanical functions are served by the organization and composition of the ECM. The two major macromolecules composing the matrix, similar to hyaline cartilage, are collagen and aggrecan. Type I and Type II collagen make up 90% of the dry weight of the AF and NP matrices, which gives the tissue tensile support and serves to anchor the tissue to the bone.⁴⁶ Aggrecan supplies osmotic pressure to the tissue through its chondroitin and keratan sulphate chains.⁴⁷ The nucleus contains a higher proteoglycan and water content than the annulus. As in other extracellular matrices, there exist many other collagen types and other small proteoglycans. The biochemical processes within IVD tissues are similar to that of articular cartilage; metalloproteinases and aggrecanases are responsible for the breakdown of the matrix components. Equilibrium between synthesis, breakdown, and buildup of matrix components give the tissue its physical and mechanical characteristics, as well as maintaining the avascular and aneural nature of a normal disc.

As mentioned, there exist many similarities between articular cartilage and IVD, particularly regarding the biochemical mechanisms. However, there exist some differences in the structure of the matrix, one of which is the aggrecan structure and composition. In IVDs, the aggrecan macromolecules are more heterogeneous, containing less aggrecan and more degraded remains. Whereas articular cartilage aggrecan is approximately 80% clustered, the IVD can be only 30% clustered in the same individual.⁴⁸ Because disc proteoglycans become more difficult to withdraw

from older individuals, crosslinking is thought to be tighter in the IVD matrix than in other connective tissues.³⁸

The skeletal system develops with age, and the border between the annulus and nucleus becomes less discernible. Also, the nucleus becomes less gelatinous and more fibrotic in nature.⁴⁹ Both age and degeneration may contribute in the morphology of the disc becoming more disorganized. The annular lamellae may diverge and the collagen and elastin fibers may become disordered.³⁸

Often, fissures may form as a cleft in the disc, especially in the NP region. As the process of degeneration progresses, more nerves and vessels find their way into the disc.⁴⁴ As in articular cartilage degeneration, cell proliferation occurs initially, leading to clusters of cells that are undifferentiated and fibroblast-like in nature, especially in the nucleus.^{50,51} Necrotic and apoptotic processes advance, and large amounts of cell death follow.⁵² These necrotic advances are surprisingly common, occurring in greater than half of cells in adult discs.⁵³ Mild cleft formation and granulation in discs of individuals as young as two years of age have been reported.⁵⁴ As the age of the individual increases, there is a higher prevalence of degenerative development, such as cell death, cell proliferation, granular change, concentric tears, and mucous degeneration.³⁸ The difference between aging and the degeneration processes that are pathological in nature are quite muddled.

Because the proteoglycan content of the disc is a major factor to its loadbearing properties, the loss of proteoglycan from the matrix often leads to pathogenicity.⁵⁵ Proteoglycan deficiency within the ECM can cause a decrease in osmotic pressure in the disc, as well as a loss of hydration during compression.⁵⁶ The

12

discs tend to bulge because they lose height and weight more rapidly than healthy discs.⁵⁷ Because of this deformation, uneven stress distributions develop in the AF region or endplates, and this disproportionate pressure may result in discogenic pain.⁵⁸ Alterations in disc dynamics affect other spinal structures and may accelerate further degeneration or injury. For instance, apophyseal joints next to the discs may potentially develop osteoarthritic variations when the discs lose height.⁵⁹ The ligamentum flavum may thicken, lose elasticity, and bulge into the spinal canal, resulting in stenosis.⁶⁰

As in articular cartilage degeneration, the loss of proteoglycan matrix triggers a degenerative cascade. Aggrecan's charge and high concentration in the disc make it osmotically active, permitting the flow of only relatively small and uncharged molecules.⁶¹ As the concentration of aggrecan decreases during degeneration, large molecules such as growth factors and cytokines may more easily penetrate the disc, allowing for angiogenesis and neurogenesis. These processes have been linked with chronic back pain.⁶² Aggrecan loss is additionally problematic because of its capacity to inhibit neuronal disc ingrowth.⁶³

IVDs are the largest avascular tissue in the human body. For this reason, a sufficient nutrient supply is deemed critical for sustaining proper tissue function and avoiding disc degeneration.^{64,65} Oxygen and glucose, as well as amino acids, sulfate, and other substrates involved in matrix production are provided by blood circulation, located at the margins of the discs.⁶⁶ In order to reach the center of the nucleus of a human lumbar disc, nutrients must travel from the bordering capillaries through up to 8 mm of dense ECM that supports the IVD. Reversely, metabolic wastes such as

lactate are removed by diffusion out of the disc and into the blood supply. Oxygen and nutrient concentrations, as well as pH levels, drop nearer to the center of the disc while metabolite concentrations rise.⁶⁷

Unlike articular cartilage, where nutrients must diffuse through the synovium and the matrix to be used by chondrocytes, two routes exist for nutrients to reach IVD cells. The molecules may pass through the cartilaginous endplate or the annulus periphery; however, most pass through the endplate. Changes in blood supply to the disc, made evident by MRI studies, significantly affect the solute supply to the disc. These studies also show that solutes move by means of diffusion, and disc pathology corresponds to a reduced nutrient supply.⁶⁶

For nutrients to reach the disc matrix, they must first arrive by capillaries and nutrient channels and then pass through the dense hyaline cartilage endplate. The endplate is composed of cartilage that is similar to but less hydrated than articular cartilage.⁶⁸ As in the other cartilage tissues, the dense proteoglycan structure and diminished hydration functions to create a permeable barrier, restricting transport of many large and charged particles.⁶⁹ Calcification of the cartilage endplate can further restrict movement of particles such as glucose. Accompanying the development of calcification with age, the thickness of the endplate also decreases.⁷⁰ Solute and matrix properties such as charge and diameter define the ease with which transport occurs through the matrix. As in hyaline cartilage, collagen embedded in a polyanionic proteoglycan gel make up the IVD matrix, restricting the flow of large molecules, and to an extent, even glucose (MW 180) is restricted.⁷¹

It is widely believed that nutrient deprivation corresponds with disc degeneration. Particularly for NP cells, there are many steps at which the nutrients must travel that can be interrupted. Atherosclerosis of the abdominal aorta and other blood flow-related disorders have been linked to disc degeneration and back pain.^{72,73} Research has also been done investigating the manner in which thrombophilic and hypofibrinolytic disorders such as sickle cell anemia⁷⁴ and Gaucher disease⁷⁵ block capillaries of the endplate, limiting nutrient flow. The progressions of these disorders are associated with a decline in the health and functionality of vertebral bodies. Capillary flow is also impeded by short-term exposure to vibration⁷⁶ and smoking⁷⁷ through their effects on muscarinic receptors.⁷⁸ In addition to blood flow blockage, calcification of the bordering cartilaginous endplate as seen in scoliosis or sclerosis of the subchondral bone may hinder nutrient availability, especially to NP cells.⁷⁹ Within degenerate discs, the permeability of subchondral bone and the cartilaginous endplate was significantly lower than in healthy discs, implicating a contribution toward further degeneration.⁶⁵

Disturbances of transport in degenerate discs gain further evidence through findings associating a lower pH and higher lactic acid concentration in the affected discs.^{80,81} Even in early degeneration, the transport of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) contrast media is inhibited. In discs that were further degenerated, disturbances presented themselves in the cartilaginous endplate.⁸² Diminished transport of a gaseous tracer corresponds to a reduced cell density in scoliotic discs.⁸³ Also in scoliotic discs, a drop in nutrient supply has been correlated with a loss of cell viability.⁸⁴ In addition, an *in vivo* study has reported that factors in disc degeneration hinder nutrient transport.⁸⁵ Solutes are more easily transported from bone to disc in normal discs than in degenerate discs *in vitro*.⁶⁵ It is clear that many cases of IVD degeneration arise from nutrient deprivation.

An *in vitro* experiment of IVD cells grown in 3D culture portrays an increased growth of apoptotic and enucleated cells in accordance with greater cell seeding density.⁸⁶ They reported that a reduced glucose supply produced larger clusters with even higher tendencies of apoptosis and senescence. These results suggest a reduction in glucose may have more of an adverse effect on the survival of implanted cells than on their initial growth. Because the cells need glucose for the production of the surrounding ECM and not just for survival, the productivity of the cells also plays an important role in preventing or reversing degeneration.

Back pain affects approximately 12% to 35% of the population in Western industrialized societies, and about 10% are chronically impaired.⁸⁷ Along with a strong relationship between back pain and the IVD, there is also an association with degeneration and other maladies, such as sciatica and disc herniation.⁸⁸ Disc herniation and prolapse are among the most encountered IVD disorders. These situations involve a bulge or rupture either posteriorly or posterolaterally, pressing on the roots of the nerve in the canal.³⁸ Inappropriate load-bearing is thought to be the final step before rupture. It may be caused *in vitro* in healthy discs by forces larger than those that naturally occur. However, in Adam's experiment involving disc rupture, the vertebral body typically fails before the disc,⁸⁹ indicating that nutritional deprivation precedes the disorder.

The stepwise process involving degeneration and injury suggests degeneration is necessary before the disc herniates. Autopsies have revealed herniation may originate from NP fragment migration through tears that are previously formed in the AF.⁹⁰ Because structural failure does not always correspond with pain, the mechanism of pain is not fully understood.⁹¹ It is believed that back pain results from not only pressure on the nerve root from herniation, but from an inflammatory cascade involving molecules such as arachidonic acid, interleukins, prostaglandins, and MMPs.⁹² This biochemical shift in the disc itself is thought to make the nerve root more sensitive. Support for this model has shown tumor necrosis factor- α antagonists were beneficial to sciatic patients. Many components of this mechanism play dual roles, such as MMPs that are not only produced in prolapsed discs, but also believed to allow for the resorption of the herniation. Because of the complexity of the inflammatory cascade, precaution should be taken in regard to therapeutic strategies that interrupt these mechanisms, and emphasis has shifted to nutritional approaches in modern literature.

To conclude, the nutritional availability to IVD cells is critical because of the narrow physiological range allowed for cell viability. The components and functionality of the ECM, as well as mechanisms of pathogenicity, are quite similar to that of articular cartilage. Disc degeneration typically occurs more rapidly than articular cartilage degeneration, and its concomitant disorders affect a wider proportion of the population. IVD degeneration is prevalent in part because solutes and nutrients must diffuse even further from the circulatory system to be used by the cells, compared to articular cartilage. For this reason, there is a growing interest in therapeutic techniques for degeneration of avascular tissues that encourage nutrient transport.⁸⁶

1.4 Therapeutics

As previously discussed, OA is the broad term given to various mechanical irregularities involved with degeneration of articular cartilage and sometimes the underlying bone.⁹³ Usually in a late stage in the progression of OA, symptoms such as pain and stiffness are manifested in the affected joints, particularly after strenuous activity or lack of activity. Sufferers complain of a grating sensation felt during movements. In its late stages, the disease can be intensely debilitating, potentially affecting one's lifestyle and employment.⁹⁴ It affects nearly 27 million Americans, with an impact of \$128 billion in lost wages and productivity.^{95,96} Although we are aware of several risk factors, including genetics, obesity, and fractures, the direct cause of OA is still unknown.⁹³ Moreover, there is no cure for OA, and common treatments include analgesics, exercise, lifestyle changes, and physical therapy, none of which halt the progression of the disease significantly.⁹⁷

When lifestyle changes are not sufficient to ease OA symptoms, many resort to microfracture surgery or total knee replacement surgery.⁹³ Because microfracture surgery causes damage to the injury site, and because an artificial joint typically fails within 10 to 15 years after implantation, these treatments are avoided if at all possible.^{98,99} The inability of degenerative cartilage to self-repair, which was previously examined in detail, is perhaps the largest obstacle in OA treatment. Specifically, the chondrocytes' anabolic mechanism of producing components of the ECM demands the large consumption of nutrients such as glucose.¹⁰⁰ Nutrient flow is reduced in degenerated cartilage, and this may not only contribute to the pathogenesis of OA but is also an obstacle in the transplantation of healthy chondrocytes.¹⁰¹ This metabolic defectiveness has led researchers to approach tissue engineering in a way that accounts for the self-reparative shortcomings of degenerated articular cartilage.

Tissue constructs in various combinations of autologous cells, scaffolds, bioreactors, mechanical stimulations, and growth factors have been proposed for the replacement of damaged or nonfunctional cartilage.¹⁰² Autologous chondrocyte implantation (ACI) involves the removal of a small fragment of articular cartilage from a non-load bearing site, such as the femoral chondyle, and inserting its isolated chondrocytes into the defected joint, covered with periosteum harvested from the tibia of the patient.¹⁰³ The procedure has had some positive outcomes, although the invasiveness of the procedure is a substantial drawback.¹⁰⁴ ACI, microfracture surgery, and total knee replacement aim to repair the cause of the disease rather than treat the symptoms and, therefore, are regarded as more comprehensive approaches. Tissue engineering looks into the possibility of a non-autogenic source, providing the benefits of these approaches while limiting surgical invasiveness.¹⁰⁵

Common cartilage tissue engineering approaches involve the integration of autologous or allogeneic stem cells or chondrocytes into man-made scaffolds that imitate *in vivo* conditions.^{105,106} These scaffolds may consist of natural materials derived from native cartilage or synthetic materials similar to ECM components.¹⁰⁷ Materials typically utilized include type 1 and type II collagen, alginate, chitosan, fibrin, agarose, chondroitin sulfate and hyaluronan.¹⁰⁸ Polymers, such as polyethylene glycol (PEG) and polycaprolactone (PCL), are under investigation for scaffolding design.¹⁰⁹ The majority of approaches involve either the development of a porous composite scaffold through processes such as freeze-drying or electrospinning or the formation of a cross-linked network into a hydrogel.^{110,111} Although there has not been a biomaterial regarded as the ideal choice for tissue engineering, many show the ability to support cell viability and matrix production.¹⁰⁶ However, there is a wide range of conditions these tissue engineering systems must uphold. Hydrogels lack the necessary mechanical strength to support cells and the surrounding tissue,¹¹² and other more mechanically sound, synthetic scaffolding constructs often lead to poor integration into the defect site or rejection of the implant from the host.¹⁰⁷

In the search for an ideal stem cell-based therapeutic approach in avascular tissues like articular cartilage, the challenge of the provision of adequate nutrition to the affected area remains at the crux of the pathophysiological dilemma.^{1,113} Attention should be brought to less invasive methods in the reversal of pathogenesis, as opposed to aggressive surgeries or the mere treatment of symptoms. Methods such as growth factor delivery and cell transplantation would likely be more beneficial if coupled with nutrient augmentation to the operation site.^{1,114} While it is conceivable that supplementary nutritional availability will assist the reversal of articular cartilage degeneration, the incorporation of such a therapeutic approach has been lacking in the literature. With a better understanding of the specific nutritional need of chondrocytes, the incorporation of such an approach will be a realistic endeavor.

Treatment for lower back pain (LBP) has generally involved a conservative approach, with the goal of increasing day-to-day functionality. LBP affects as much as 80% of people in their lifetimes.¹¹⁵ It is found not only in the elderly populations

but also the working populations, causing a drastic economic burden in western society. Sufferers of LBP in the age range of 25-60 years generally face disc herniation.¹¹⁶ Practitioners no longer recommend bed-rest to patients. Instead, analgesics, muscle relaxants, oral and locally injected corticosteroids, anesthetics, and manipulation therapies are commonly used to ease the pain.³⁸ Such interventions as intradiscal electrotherapy have generally been based on anecdotal evidence in the past, and some trials have brought to question its efficacy for long-term relief.¹¹⁷ More invasive procedures include discectomy and immobilization of the ailing vertebrae. The latter, referred to as spinal fusion, is currently regarded as the "gold standard" of treatment. In the operation, the IVD is excised, and natural bone growth processes, such as an autograft or allograft, are used to fuse the vertebrae. In the current therapy, patients that receive these mechanical prostheses have a high probability of reoperation.¹¹⁵ Non-biological prostheses are available for use in artificial total disc replacement; however, the invasive surgery induces trauma, and the inanimate prosthesis eventually deteriorates.

The above operations are performed on about one out of every 400 Americans, as compared to one out of every 2000 British patients.¹¹⁸ The rates of success of these various procedures are similar. The outcomes of surgery in wellselected patients are generally positive¹¹⁹; however, 70%-80% of patients who qualify for surgery regarding disc herniation or back pain ultimately recuperate with or without surgery.^{120,121} Disc degeneration is believed to affect other tissues and eventually lead to spinal stenosis.³⁸ For this reason, cell-based therapies have come into focus, aiming at the restoration of height and biomechanical function of the disc. Many therapies utilize the cell's own capability for self-repair in the restoration of the disc matrix. One approach is to increase the natural capacity for matrix production by the insertion of growth factors such as IGF-1^{122,123}, and these factors have provided as much as a five-fold increase. Because injection has provided only short-lived improvements, gene therapies and scaffolding systems have been assessed for the gradual release of these growth factors. Additionally, analysis of glucose consumption following intradiscal injection of IGF-1 has revealed a reduced glucose concentration, increased lactate accumulation, and a resultant pH drop at the site of injection.¹¹⁴ Because of the complexity of catabolic and anabolic processes that maintain normal matrix biomechanics, it is impossible to propose an optimal therapeutic model for growth factor delivery without further establishing a deeper understanding of pathogenesis.¹²⁴ In the future, an ideal treatment for degenerative disc disease must achieve not only pain relief but also the biological reversal of the degenerative cascade.

Current research has pursued the practical implementation of functional cells in conjunction with scaffolding systems for IVD therapy. NP replacement hydrogels have been widely tested *in vivo* and *in vitro*.¹¹⁵ Structures that are currently available for testing generally lack either a high load-bearing capacity or biocompatibility. Less has been studied regarding AF repair, and the objective of affixing the hydrogels within AF tissue has not yet been refined. Progenitor cells have shown promise for a potential therapeutic resolution due to their ability to regenerate tissue and activate cells in the IVD. While the field has potential, there is still much to uncover in regard to the biological mechanisms of the IVD and engineering approaches. A goal of NP repair is the restoration of the disc matrix. Common strategies include the introduction of matrix-producing cells, molecules that encourage matrix regeneration, and shock-absorbing hydrogels.¹¹⁵ The therapeutic approach is dictated by severity of degeneration. Many criteria exist for a proper NP hydrogel. These include allowing for a minimally invasive surgery, solidification after implantation to deter leakage, the ability to bear heavy loads, the prevention of degradation and biological response, the ability to hold water and maintain swelling pressure, and allowing the growth of cells and the surrounding matrix within the gel.

Interventions that hold promise include a thermo-reversible hydrogel, that can solidify from room temperature into a gel upon exposure to body temperatures. Also, chitosan and hyaluronan¹²⁵ have potential to satisfy many of the above criteria, due to their optimal biocompatibility. Photo-crosslinking of natural polymers such as alginate¹²⁶ or cellulose¹²⁷ with functional groups like methacrylates or N-vinylpyrrolidone through exposure to UV rays can cause a sol/gel transition of the hydrogel *in vivo*. Such photo-crosslinking hydrogels provide manipulation time before solidification and cytocompatibility.¹²⁶ Recent studies have shown that chemical crosslinking of polymers containing human disc cells also has the potential for high cytocompatibility and injectability for NP generation, in spite of the considerable amount of heat generated in the process.¹²⁸

Multipotent and pluripotent stem cells could provide a suitable replacement for young and healthy NP cells that are more difficult to obtain. These cells can originate in the synovium,¹²⁹ bone marrow,¹³⁰ and adipose tissue.¹³¹ One recent clinical trial utilized autologous bone-marrow-derived MSCs with results showing the

23

alleviation of pain and disability.¹³² Conditions in the IVD are relatively harsh for MSCs, and low survival of injected cells is of concern.^{133,134} Pre-conditioning and the use of various hydrogel carriers may provide a higher yield of injected MSCs that survive *in vivo*.¹³⁵

Although there lies promise in the unveiling of the phenotypic character of NP and AF cells, as well as chondrocytes, the signaling cascades remain unclear. While IGF-1, basis fibroblast growth factor (FGF-2), platelet derived growth factor (PDGF), and growth and differentiation factor -5 (GDF-5)¹³⁶ could encourage discogenesis, they may also prevent discogenic differentiation.¹³⁷ Growth factors within the TGF and BMP families can lead to chondrogenic differentiation of MSCs.¹³⁸ As mentioned, growth factors such as IGF-1 may stimulate stem cell proliferation and processes but may in turn siphon the nutrient supply, potentially instigating further degeneration.

Pre-conditioning MSCs in hypoxia,¹³⁶ in a 3D environment, with mechanical stimulation, by co-culturing them with NP cells¹³⁹ or in media conditioned with notochordal cells¹⁴⁰ have all shown to induce both chondrogenesis and discogenesis. In addition to the problem of reduced glucose and pH after injection of such growth factors as IGF-1, there lies the obstacle of containing the cells and growth factors from outside the tissue of interest in the prevention of osteogenesis.¹⁴¹ The multipotency of the cells is a cause of concern because of the potential for leakage, as this can lead to the development of osteophytes.¹⁴² A carrier can therefore function to not only provide a framework for the attachment and growth of MSCs but also to protect them from leaking.

Just as the disc is naturally reliant upon sufficient nutrient supply, therapeutic interventions discussed also depend on nutritional availability. In the case that either the cartilaginous endplates have calcified^{143,113} or the abdominal aorta or lumbar arteries have occluded,¹⁴⁴ matrix-producing cell therapy will likely have no benefit, because the lack of nutrient supply will reduce the population of existing and inserted cells. In addition, reduced pH and glucose concentration can cause elevated matrix breakdown and decreased matrix production.¹⁴⁵ One method of increasing nutrient supply to the disc has been the insertion of 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT), a receptor antagonist which has been shown to induce greater blood flow to the nerve roots near the disc in patients with disc herniation.¹⁴⁶ A calcium channel antagonist, nimodipine, may also increase blood supply to the disc through vascularization, which may improve the cells' nutrient supply.¹⁴⁷

A limitation in the transplantation of various stem cells, especially MSCs, is the high death rate upon implantation.^{148,149} On examining the main cause of cellular death of transplanted cells, Deschepper performed an experiment involving the transplantation of human MSCs.¹⁵⁰ Two factors were compared: oxygen tension and nutrient deprivation. The article reasons that the two factors are related and refutes the presumption that oxygen concentration is solely important. The *in vivo* study was performed looking at hMSC survival through ectopic transplantation into mice. After placing the cells into a cylindrical poly-acrylonitrile-sodium methallyl sulfonate "PASM" scaffold with fibrin hydrogels and glucose, it was shown that after 14 days, the number of viable cells was 5 times higher than of the same scaffolds without glucose (15% viability). In addition to the better viability, the peripheral vascularization of implanted tissue constructs were greatly improved with the presence of glucose, potentially because of the overexpression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1- α and its relation to angiogenesis. The idea that anoxia is the most responsible factor of cell death was challenged by continuous near-anoxic conditions for 21 days at 5g/L glucose. The cells were still viable, continued to proliferate, and showed appropriate phenotypic markers. Because NP cells require more ATP for the production of matrix, it is likely that NP cells respond more quickly to changes in oxygen than AF cells or chondrocytes,¹⁵¹ and it has been shown that oxygen, pH, and nutrient supply are interrelated with respect to cellular metabolism.¹⁵²

These obstacles involved in therapeutic transplantation establish the need for the proper selection of cell type. Although transplantation of somatic stem cells has attracted global attention, the practical usage of these cells is still under development. MSCs have been viewed as a popular alternative¹⁴⁸ because they are easier to expand in large quantities. Although studies performed on smaller animals such as rabbits¹⁵³ and canines¹⁵⁴ have reported MSCs to be a viable option for cellular transplantation, studies on larger animals¹⁴⁹ have failed to implement them successfully. Small animal models have been considered unrepresentative of clinical use because of anatomical and physiological restraints related to body size.¹⁵⁵ Nutrients and other molecules must travel a larger distance to reach implanted cells in avascular environments in humans than in our smaller animal counterparts. It is plausible that MSCs are not adequately equipped to survive in the "harsh" conditions associated with such an avascular environment. While it is a well-established principle that nutrition is pivotal to the survival of endogenous and transplanted cells in such avascular environments,¹⁵⁶ there has - to date - been no clinical solution to remedy this underlying dilemma. A primary issue in implementation is the invasiveness of injections. A needle with a diameter greater than 40% of the disc height significantly alters mechanical properties of cadaver discs, regardless of animal body size.¹⁵⁷ Puncturing of the AF tissue leads to NP depressurization, and in live models, this can provoke degenerative changes. However, a bovine disc organ culture revealed maintained cell viability, excluding cells localized at the injection site, in addition to a possible remodeling response for damaged areas within a week.¹⁵⁸ Such outcomes leave potential for nutrient augmentation by a minimally invasive discogram procedure. Additionally, it is conceivable in the future to supply glucose within a hydrogel or cell-scaffolding system in the treatment of LBP.

1.5 Rationale of Current Study

Cellular biochemistry and metabolism within avascular tissues are only partially understood, particularly in regard to the etiology of degenerative processes. Cigarette smoking, metabolic disorders such as diabetes mellitus, and blood aneurisms affect cell physiology and capillary flow. For this reason, they are all risk factors for OA and IVD degeneration,^{1,77,159} due largely to an interference of glucose supply.⁸³ It is evident that nutrition and metabolites are a vital factor in the prevention and reversal of many forms of disease progression that afflict avascular tissues, and there has been a wide investigation on the effect of such factors as glucose and oxygen supply, as well as pH on cell viability. Bibby and Urban investigated the interactions of these
three components on cell viability,¹⁶⁰ indicating they are likely to exist concurrently *in vivo*. It was determined while lower oxygen and pH levels were not ideal for cell viability, glucose deprivation is significantly more detrimental. Using a profusion chamber, Urban and Horner determined to what extent cell populations in agarose discs were reduced by the distance glucose must diffuse to reach the cells.¹⁵⁶ While these experiments help to unveil the nutritional need for IVD tissues, they lack the precision to be used for biomedical engineering approaches. To my understanding, it remains unclear in the literature what avascular cell populations can be sustained in specific levels of glucose, the range of surrounding glucose concentration that is optimal for survival, and how much glucose these cell types consume in varying levels of glucose. These are valuable tools that can be used in a wide range of biomedical engineering faculties.

In accordance with the current limited understanding of cellular nutritional need in avascular tissues, survivorship curves have transiently related cell density at varying glucose concentrations. The results of the study were used in the pursuit of a constitutive model for further computer modeling and numerical methods. Such methods in the past have been utilized for the analysis of cell viability in relation to nutrient transport and other elements, such as growth factors.^{113,114,152,161} In addition to a transient response of sustained nutrient supply at various concentrations, an equilibrium response for chondrocytes exhibited the stabilization of cell populations for each level of glucose. Additionally, the relation between cell density and glucose consumption was analyzed to provide an investigation of the consumption of glucose per individual cell per day. Since the experiment was performed with chondrocytes, AF, and NP cells, a broader understanding of cellular nutritional need has been provided for the therapeutic strategies targeted at many different disorders, including OA and LBP. This fundamental investigation will lead to more thorough and precise investigations of IVD and chondrocyte metabolism and eventually to therapeutic interventions that can be used for the determination of proper nutrient delivery.

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Cell Isolation and Expansion

Porcine articular chondrocytes from the proximal head of the porcine humerus, as well as AF and NP cells from the porcine IVD, were isolated.¹⁶² In short, the humeri and discs were removed from the 4-to 6-month-old pigs within approximately 2 hours following sacrifice. Cartilage tissue located on the articulating surfaces of the humeri were removed with a scalpel under a sterile hood and were finely chopped, incubated in an enzyme solution containing Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM, Invitrogen Corp., Carlsbad, CA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Invitrogen Cor.), 1% antibiotic-antimycotic (Atlanta Biologicals, Inc., Lawrenceville, GA), collagenase type II (1.5 mg/mL; Worthington Biochemical Corp. Lakewood, NJ), and protease (0.6 mg/mL; Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). The AF and NP cells were isolated and cultured in the same solution. After the tissues were cultured in the described enzyme solution at $37^{\circ}C$ and 5% CO₂ for no longer than 48 hours, remaining undigested tissue was removed using a 70 µm cell strainer (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA). The cartilage, AF, and NP cells were then cultured and expanded at 37°C and 5% CO₂ in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% antibiotic-antimycotic.

The chondrocytes were dyed in trypan blue at a 1:1 ratio to be counted with a hemacytometer. Approximately 10 million cells were harvested and plated into a P175 flask, and the cells were passaged a week later into two separate culture flasks. One flask was passaged once more into three separate flasks, and the cells were allowed to proliferate until approximately 20 million cells were available. The AF

30

and NP cells were expanded in their first passage and used when they reached confluency.

2.2 Chondrocyte Experiment

2.2.1 Dilutions and Culture

An initial, twelve-day experiment was designed for the observation of a transient and equilibrium response to varying glucose concentrations. After cell isolation and expansion, the chondrocytes were placed into 2% agarose constructs, using a mold with a diameter of 8 mm and height of 1.5 mm. Gel samples were formed, and each gel contained approximately 700,000 cells. They were counted using a hemacytometer and were resuspended at 20 million cells/mL. The final cell seeding density was 10 million cells/mL. 70 μ L of 50% gel and 50% of the resuspended medium were put in the wells to harden. Six additional gel constructs were divided into three groups based on a cytometer count: two with 10 million cells/mL, two with 1 million cells/mL, and the last two with 0.1 million cells/mL.

All samples were cultured overnight in 0.5 mL of high glucose DMEM (4.5 g/L) as described above. Separate DMEM solutions with 10% FBS and 1% antibioticantimycotic were created with six varying glucose dilutions (0.1, 0.2, 0.4, 0.8, 1.6, and 3.2 g/L). Following overnight culture, the old medium was removed, and the gel constructs were sliced into quarters using a trimming knife (Sakura Finetek, Torrance, CA) and then divided into 6 groups in 24 well culture plates. The new glucose dilutions were added at a volume of 0.5 mL to each well. For the next 12 days, a medium change was performed each day, and during days 1 and 2, the old medium was preserved for analysis of glucose consumption. To account for the change in glucose concentration due to evaporation in the incubator, a negative control was applied for each dilution (i.e. 0.1, 0.2, 0.4, 0.8, 1.6, and 3.2 g/L) in the days of the experiment that glucose consumption was analyzed.

2.2.2 Viability Staining and Imaging

On day 3, 5, 7, 9, and 12, samples from each dilution group were put in separate well plates and the live and dead cells within the gels were stained using a viability/cytotoxicity kit (Biotium, Inc. Hayward, CA). After the gel sections were added to a 24 well plate, 0.5 mL Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline (PBS, Gibco, Grand Island, NY), 1 μ L ethidium homodimer-1 (EthD-1), and .25 μ L calcein were added to each well, and the samples were covered from light and stirred for at least 30 minutes.

The samples were imaged using an Olympus IX70 microscope, and images were taken of the slices at 10x magnification using fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) and Texas Red (TR) for the observation of live and dead, or apoptotic, cells. Q Capture Pro 6.0 (Media Cybernetics, Inc. and QImaging, Inc.) was used to capture the images. Two captures of the live cell stain and one capture of the dead cell stain were saved and cropped. An area of interest (AOI) was designated using the Q Capture Pro imaging software for the provision of a standardized method of cropping the images for cell counting, and the same dimensions of the AOI were used consistently throughout every experiment.

The six calibration gels were sliced, stained, and imaged correspondingly on day one of the experiment, when the populations within the gels were analogous to the hemacytometer counts. A standard curve was created from the calibration gels to determine cell population in each of the samples.

2.2.3 Cell Counting

The samples were double-blinded so as to objectify the counting process and to eliminate bias. The cells in each AOI of both the live and dead stained images were quantified using ImageJ (Broken Symmetry Software, Inc.) Settings for detection of length and width of the cells, as well as threshold, were modified depending on the quality of each picture, and if the software could not detect cells due to low image quality, the remaining cells were counted by hand.

2.3 AF and NP Cell Experiment

In conjunction with the transient chondrocyte experiment, both AF and NP cells were put into 70 µL gels and were sliced into halves and quarters, respectively. Gels were diluted with DMEM in order to generate standards for calibration of the counting software in similar fashion to the chondrocyte study. The six calibration gels were sliced, stained, and imaged correspondingly on day 0 of the experiment (24 hours after cell seeding). The standard curve was generated from the calibration gels as described in the chondrocyte study to determine cell population in each of the samples. Glucose dilutions (0.1, 0.2, 0.4, 0.8, 1.6, and 3.2 g/L) at 0.5 mL per sample were changed daily for the duration of each 12-day experiment, and old medium was collected from the wells on the first day for glucose consumption.

Six to seven gels were produced for each dilution per cell type. After overnight culture in high glucose medium, the gels were placed into their respective dilutions for comparison with chondrocyte viability. They were cultured for 12 days, in accordance with the equilibrium response determined in the chondrocyte experiment. The cells were stained and imaged on day 12. Two FITC images and one TR image were taken and cropped using the same AOI as the chondrocyte study. The cropped images were double-blinded, and live and dead cells were counted using the same procedure as for the chondrocytes.

2.4 Glucose Assay

During medium change, the remaining DMEM solutions were collected from samples on the first day of each experiment and frozen at -4° C. A glucose assay kit (Sigma-Aldrich, Co.) was used to quantify glucose consumption of the samples. The reagent is a solution of 1.5mM NAD, 1.0 unit/mL of hexokinase, 1.0 unit/mL ATP, 1.0 unit/mL of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase. Glucose is catalyzed in the final step to 6-phosphogluconate. The consequent increase in absorbance at 340 nm is directly proportional to the concentration of glucose in each sample. Samples were vortexed, added in a 1 to 4 ratio (25 μ L to 100 μ L) with the reconstituted reagent, vortexed again, and then incubated for 15 minutes. After that time, 100 μ L of each sample was transferred to a 96 well plate for spectrophotometer reading (DTX 880 Multimode Detector, Beckman-Coulter).

The absorbance of four samples at each concentration of medium was measured at 340 nm with the spectrophotometer to determine glucose concentrations. A standard curve was formed in order to control for ambient changes in temperature, humidity, reagent activity, etc. The standard curve included points with an absorbance between 0.275 and 0.791, and samples that fell out of this range were diluted at a 1 to 10 ratio and were immediately measured again. All samples of higher concentrations fell into the operable range when measured again. Controls were used in culture without samples to account for change in glucose concentration in medium resulting from evaporation. The variances in glucose concentrations of the controls versus the medium after one day of culture represents consumption of glucose by cells in the sample. In order to account for uneven slicing, the quartered samples were weighed after imaging to find weight ratios in the determination of cell number for each quarter. Glucose consumption data was compiled with cell per sample so that consumption per cell could be calculated. The final volume of medium per well was estimated, assuming it would change inversely with concentration. Using the estimated final volume, the quantity of glucose (nm per million cells per hour) involved in cell metabolism was calculated for each sample.

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

3.1 Preliminary Measurements

3.1.1 Cell Count Calibration

A pilot study using SHED cells (NOVA Southeastern University, Fort Lauderdale, FL) was performed to calibrate cell counts within a specified AOI with previous hemacytometer counts. Gels with a volume of 100 μ L and 2% agarose were constructed at 10 million cells/mL and were plated for a day to calibrate the cellcounting software for future experiments. The images were gelled, sliced, stained, and imaged on the same day. The cell-counting technique was justified as an appropriate measuring tool for the study.



Figure 1: Standard Curve for determination of a cell counting method using a predetermined AOI.

3.1.2 SHED Survivorship Curve

A study was performed using SHED cells to determine the feasibility of cell modeling in a population study. Cell counts were recorded after four days at five separate concentrations (0.2, 0.4, 0.8, 1.6, and 4.5 g/L). The data shows an obvious

trend in population difference between those cultured in lower concentrations versus those in moderate or higher concentrations. The previous standard curve was used to determine an approximate cell count for each imaged sample. A logarithmic curve can be observed in the survival of SHED cells after a four day period.



Figure 2: SHED cell survivorship curves in various concentrations of glucose DMEM.

3.1.3 Temporal Analysis of Survival

As a pilot study, an analysis of SHED cell populations in 2% agarose gels was performed for determination of a survivorship curve. Logarithmic curves can be observed in the cell density of the samples, and a considerable decrease in live cell density can be seen on day four.



Figure 3: Survivorship curve for cells cultured in various concentrations of glucose DMEM.

3.1.4 Equilibrium Response

An experiment was conducted using porcine chondrocytes from articular cartilage to determine protocol for an experiment that displays changes in cell density over time. The study was performed to determine the possibility of reducing gel volume to 50µL. Samples were incubated in glucose concentrations of 0.1 and 0.2 g/L and were sliced, stained, and imaged on days 3, 6, and 9 of the experiment.



Figure 4: A temporal analysis of chondrocyte cell density shows sustained cell populations after 9 days of culture.

3.1.5 Glutamine Deprivation

A pilot study was conducted using 0.1 and 0.2 g/L glucose medium dilutions to eliminate the possibility of glutamine metabolism affecting cell density. Based on the results of this pilot study, glutamine deprivation seemed to affect cell survival.



Figure 5: Chondrocyte density was analyzed after culture without the presence of glutamine to determine its role in cell survival.

3.2 Cell Viability

3.2.1 Chondrocyte Viability

Chondrocyte samples were incubated in glucose dilutions without glutamine at about 3 samples per concentration per time point. Cell density was analyzed at days 3, 5, 7, 9, and 12. Even at low glucose concentrations of 0.1 and 0.2 g/L (i.e. 0.56 and 1.11 mM), the samples were able to maintain cell density.



Figures 6 and 7: Chondrocyte cell populations incubated in low glucose DMEM concentrations were counted at five separate time points.



Figures 8 and 9: Chondrocyte cell populations incubated in moderate glucose DMEM concentrations were counted at five separate time points.



Figures 10 and 11: Chondrocyte cell populations incubated in high glucose DMEM concentrations were counted at five separate time points.

3.2.2 Nucleus Pulposus Viability

NP cells were cultured at 10 million cells/mL with 4 samples for lower concentrations (0.1, 0,2, and 0.4 g/L glucose) and 2 samples for each higher concentration (0.8, 1.6, and 3.2 g/L glucose). An observance of cell viability on day 12 revealed a reduction in cell density at higher glucose concentrations (P<0.05).



Figure 12: NP cell populations incubated with DMEM at various glucose concentrations were counted on day 12. Differences in cell density between samples cultured in 0.1 g/L and 3.2 g/L are statistically significant (P<0.05).

3.2.3 Annulus Fibrosus Cell Viability

AF cells were cultured at 10 million cells/mL with 3-4 samples per concentration per time point. An observance of cell viability at day 12 revealed a sustained population. Samples cultured at all glucose concentrations were able to sustain cell density after twelve days.



Figure 13: AF cell populations incubated with DMEM at various glucose concentrations were counted at day 12.3.3 Glucose Consumption

3.3 Glucose Consumption

3.3.1 Chondrocyte Consumption

Upon measuring the absorbance of each concentration of medium after the first day of culture, consumption of glucose per million cells per hour was determined. Based on the data of the cell's consumption of glucose in lower concentrations, cells cultured in higher amounts of glucose consumed larger amounts than cells in lower concentrations.



Figure 14: Glucose consumption of chondrocytes cultured in various DMEM glucose dilutions after the first day.

3.3.2 Nucleus Pulposus Cell Consumption

The medium used to culture gels containing the NP cells was collected after the first 24 hours of the experiment for determination of the new concentration of glucose after consumption. Similarly to the chondrocyte experiment, a control was used to account for evaporation. Like the chondrocytes, NP cells consumed more glucose when exposed to an environment of higher glucose concentration.



Figure 15: Glucose consumption of NP cells cultured in various DMEM glucose dilutions after the first day.

3.3.3 Annulus Fibrosus Cell Consumption

Similarly to the NP and chondrocyte studies, four samples of medium were collected from the wells after 24 hours of AF cell culture. After accounting for a rise in concentration of glucose after medium evaporation and for the reduction in volume, the amounts of glucose involved in metabolism for each category of cells in the various concentrations were determined. A significant rise in consumption can be seen in AF cells cultured in higher concentrations of glucose.



Figure 16: Glucose consumption of NP cells cultured in various DMEM glucose dilutions after the first day.

3.3.4 Cell Type Comparison

According to the glucose consumption data, AF cells more readily consumed glucose than NP or chondrocyte cells when exposed to higher concentrations of glucose, chondrocytes consumed the lowest amount of glucose, and NP cells consumed glucose at a slightly higher rate than did the chondrocytes.



Figure 17: A comparison of glucose consumption between AF, NP, and chondrocyte cells.

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

4.1 Cell Viability

For each avascular cell type, it was observed through viability staining and ImageJ counting that living cell populations persisted at even very low concentrations of glucose (as low as 0.5 mM). In gels that were conditioned in low glucose medium, the cell densities fluctuated in minor amounts due to cell death and mitosis. During the imaging process, substantial amounts of cell division could be seen, particularly in days 9 and 12. For NP cells, there was a drop in cell density in samples cultured at higher concentrations of glucose. It is possible that glucotoxicity might play a role in cell death through glycation reactions with proteins that ultimately form reactive oxygen species, which cause oxidative stress at the cellular level.¹⁶³ The same was not observed for chondrocytes or AF cells, indicating that NP cells might be particularly susceptible to apoptosis at higher glucose concentrations. NP cells' potential susceptibility to glucotoxicity could be involved in the pathogenesis of IVD degeneration.

According to Bibby and Urban¹⁶⁰, lactic acid production is significantly decreased in IVD cells cultured in 0.5 mM glucose compared to those in 5 mM glucose (about 0.1 and 1.0 g/L glucose, respectively). While their study examined the combined effect hypoxia and low pH on the viability of IVD cells, their data on lactic acid production is representative of the rate of glucose metabolism. While IVD cells are essentially stressed at around 0.5 mM, they are unable to survive at concentrations lower than 0.2 mM. It is reasonable to determine that glutamine deprivation has an effect on cell viability, however, its role in metabolism and the biochemical pathways

48

with which it is involved are somewhat deviant from that of glucose metabolism. The results from AF, NP, and chondrocyte cell viability experiments support previous research done by Bibby and Urban that cells are able to maintain viability when they are exposed to a medium of 0.5 mM glucose.

4.2 Glucose Consumption

For each examined cell type, a pattern was seen in the increase in consumption of glucose when cultured in higher glucose concentrations. The pattern could especially be seen in the AF data, where consumption was significantly greater than that of either NP cells or chondrocytes. Although it could be expected to have Michaelis-Menten kinetics in the curves of glucose consumption, it appears from the above data that no equilibrium was reached for the AF cell consumption, even at as high as 17 mM glucose. The NP cell and chondrocyte consumption data is more representative of Michaelis-Menten behavior.

Based on the glucose consumption data above, a considerable discrepancy is apparent between the consumption of various cell types, particularly the AF cells. The AF graph shows the tightest linear regression and smallest standard deviation of any of the consumption data. For the AF and NP cells, the quartered samples were assumed to include 175,000 cells per sample, as each full gel contained approximately 700,000 at 10 million cells/mL. This allowed for the determination of glucose consumption per cell in a given time frame. For the chondrocytes, each quarter was weighed and ratios were taken to determine the approximate cell count in each sample, and glucose consumption was calculated accordingly. Based on the data from both cell viability experiments and from the NP glucose consumption curve, it is quite possible that NP glucose consumption, in relation to initial medium glucose concentration, would display a sharp drop in consumption. Because a substantial amount of dead NP cells were witnessed during viability staining in the two or three lowest concentrated dilutions (0.1, 0.2, and 0.4 g/L), and also because the concentrations of glucose in these three dilutions were undetectable in the range of the glucose assay (meaning significant amounts of glucose were utilized in cellular metabolism), it would be reasonable to infer that NP cells are dependent on a level of glucose for optimal functionality that is between the range of 0.2 g/L and 2 g/L.

According to Guehring *et al.*¹⁶⁴, chondrocyte-like mature NP cells (MNPCs) absorb 95 ± 8 nMol/10⁶ cells/hour when cultured in 5 mM (~1.0g/L) glucose and no FBS. Given the differences in culture medium composition, the relatively small variance in the above glucose consumption data for NP cells and Guehring *et al.*'s experiments are reasonable. Additionally, because MNPCs would be expected to consume less glucose, based on the results above and their probable likeness to chondrocyte absorption, the lower amount of glucose consumption by MNPCs in comparison to NP cells is logical. One might also consider the possibility of glucose consumption being elevated because of higher concentrations of O₂ in the incubator. According to Schneider *et al.*, chondrocytes cultured in 5% and 21% O₂ had the same rate of glucose intake for both 1 and 4.5 g/L glucose medium cultures.¹⁶⁵

50

4.3 Conclusion

In summary, the viability of certain avascular cell types, namely AF, NP, and chondrocyte cells, can be maintained in culture at or above 0.5 mM glucose. In addition, glucose consumption was shown to be greatest in AF cells, especially when incubated within a higher concentration of glucose medium. Chondrocytes were reported to consume the lowest amount of glucose, just below that of NP cells.

4.4 Limitations of Current Study

The main limitation of this study was the range of dilutions that were examined to display cell death and corresponding drop in cellular density in the agarose gels. This can be modified in future studies to show a fall in density with even lower concentration of glucose. Although samples with NP cells cultured in higher levels of glucose exhibited a statistically significant drop in cell density over a twelve day period, further studies are needed to confirm this finding.

The glucose assay used to measure consumption was able to detect concentrations only between 0.05 and 5 mg/mL. The spectrophotometer was therefore unable to detect meaningful changes in absorbance for solutions that had dropped in concentration below 0.05 mg/mL due to metabolism, including solutions that had started at 0.1 g/L for all cell types and 0.1, 0.2, and 0.4 g/L for NP cells. In addition, because glucose was measured 24 hours after the onset of incubation, more frequent measurements would allow for a more accurate representation of the ratio between initial vs. consumed glucose. A glucose meter, in addition to the potential of greater accuracy, would also allow for more frequent and numerous measurements of final glucose concentration.

4.5 Future Studies

In order to properly see substantial cell death due to nutrient deprivation, cells in a gel scaffold should be incubated in a range of glucose dilutions between 0.1 and 2 mM (~.018 and .36 g/L respectively) for at least 5 to 7 days. Additionally, a larger sample size (5 samples per data point) would help support findings of cell death due to glucose deprivation or glucotoxicity. A study showing the drop in NP cell density in higher concentrations should be repeated to display consistent results.

Additionally, the previously mentioned glucose meter should be used for the determination of consumption at points below 2 mM glucose (~.4 g/L) in the understanding of cell metabolism in a stressing and depraved environment. The glucose consumption curves, once enhanced by more data, can be used for molecular modeling purposes in the near future.

References

¹ Mobasheri, A. *et al.* Glucose transport and metabolism in chondrocytes: a key to understanding chondrogenesis, skeletal development and cartilage degradation in osteoarthritis. *Histol. Histopathol.* **17**, 1239–1267 (2002).

² Huber, M., Trattnig, S. & Lintner, F. Anatomy, biochemistry, and physiology of articular cartilage. *Invest Radiol* **35**, 573–580 (2000).

³ Buckwalter, J. A., Mankin, H. J. & Grodzinsky, A. J. Articular cartilage and osteoarthritis. *Instr Course Lect* **54**, 465–480 (2005).

⁴ Hlavácek, M. The thixotropic effect of the synovial fluid in squeeze-film lubrication of the human hip joint. *Biorheology* **38**, 319–334 (2001).

⁵ Muir, H. The chondrocyte, architect of cartilage. Biomechanics, structure, function and molecular biology of cartilage matrix macromolecules. *Bioessays* **17**, 1039–1048 (1995).

⁶ Aydelotte, M. B. & Kuettner, K. E. Differences between sub-populations of cultured bovine articular chondrocytes. I. Morphology and cartilage matrix production. *Connect. Tissue Res.***18**, 205–222 (1988).

⁷ Poole, A. R., Pidoux, I., Reiner, A. & Rosenberg, L. An immunoelectron microscope study of the organization of proteoglycan monomer, link protein, and collagen in the matrix of articular cartilage. *J. Cell Biol.* **93**, 921–937 (1982).

⁸ Poole, C. A., Flint, M. H. & Beaumont, B. W. Morphological and functional interrelationships of articular cartilage matrices. *J Anat* **138**, 113–138 (1984).

⁹ Eyre, D. R., Wu, J. J. & Woods, P. E. The cartilage collagens: structural and metabolic studies. *J Rheumatol Suppl* **27**, 49–51 (1991).

¹⁰ Poole, C. A., Glant, T. T. & Schofield, J. R. Chondrons from articular cartilage. (IV). Immunolocalization of proteoglycan epitopes in isolated canine tibial chondrons. *J. Histochem. Cytochem.* **39**, 1175–1187 (1991).

¹¹ Hardingham, T. E. & Muir, H. Hyaluronic acid in cartilage and proteoglycan aggregation. *Biochem. J.* **139**, 565–581 (1974).

¹² De Bont, L. G., Liem, R. S., Havinga, P., Boering, G. & Van der Korst, J. Collagenous network in cartilage of human femoral condyles. A light microscopic and scanning electron microscopic study. *Acta Anat (Basel)* **126**, 41–47 (1986).

¹³ Kuettner, K. E. Biochemistry of articular cartilage in health and disease. *Clinical Biochemistry* **25**, 155–163 (1992).

¹⁴ Brower, T. D., Akahoshi, Y. & Orlic, P. The diffusion of dyes through articular cartilage in vivo. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* **44**, 456–463 (1962).

¹⁵ Torzilli, P. A., Arduino, J. M., Gregory, J. D. & Bansal, M. Effect of proteoglycan removal on solute mobility in articular cartilage. *J Biomech* **30**, 895–902 (1997).

¹⁶ Wang, J., Zhou, J. & Bondy, C. A. Igf1 promotes longitudinal bone growth by insulin-like actions augmenting chondrocyte hypertrophy. *FASEB J.* **13**, 1985–1990 (1999).

¹⁷ Lee, R. B. & Urban, J. P. Evidence for a negative Pasteur effect in articular cartilage. *Biochem. J.* **321 (Pt 1)**, 95–102 (1997).

¹⁸ Levick, J. R. Microvascular architecture and exchange in synovial joints. *Microcirculation* **2**, 217–233 (1995).

¹⁹ Griffin, T. M., Huebner, J. L., Kraus, V. B., Yan, Z. & Guilak, F. Induction of osteoarthritis and metabolic inflammation by a very high-fat diet in mice: Effects of short-term exercise.*Arthritis & Rheumatism* **64**, 443–453 (2012).

²⁰ Buckwalter, J. A., Martin, J. & Mankin, H. J. Synovial joint degeneration and the syndrome of osteoarthritis. *Instr Course Lect* **49**, 481–489 (2000).

²¹ Goldring, M. B. The role of the chondrocyte in osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* **43**, 1916–1926 (2000).

²² Von der Mark, K. *et al.* Type X collagen synthesis in human osteoarthritic cartilage. Indication of chondrocyte hypertrophy. *Arthritis Rheum.* **35**, 806–811 (1992).

²³ Blanco, F. J., Ochs, R. L., Schwarz, H. & Lotz, M. Chondrocyte apoptosis induced by nitric oxide. *Am. J. Pathol.* **146**, 75–85 (1995).

²⁴ Martel-Pelletier, J. Pathophysiology of osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthr. Cartil.* **12 Suppl A**, S31–33 (2004).

²⁵ Robbins, J. R. *et al.* Immortalized human adult articular chondrocytes maintain cartilage-specific phenotype and responses to interleukin-1β. *Arthritis Rheum.* **43**, 2189–2201 (2000).

²⁶ Del Rey, A. & Besedovsky, H. Interleukin 1 affects glucose homeostasis. *Am. J. Physiol.* **253**, R794–798 (1987).

²⁷ Shikhman, A. R., Brinson, D. C., Valbracht, J. & Lotz, M. K. Cytokine regulation of facilitated glucose transport in human articular chondrocytes. *J. Immunol.* **167**, 7001–7008 (2001).

²⁸ Kealy, R. D. *et al.* Five-year longitudinal study on limited food consumption and development of osteoarthritis in coxofemoral joints of dogs. *J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc.* **210**, 222–225 (1997).

²⁹ McAlindon, T. E., LaValley, M. P., Gulin, J. P. & Felson, D. T. Glucosamine and chondroitin for treatment of osteoarthritis: a systematic quality assessment and metaanalysis. *JAMA***283**, 1469–1475 (2000).

³⁰ Underwood, L. E. Nutritional regulation of IGF-I and IGFBPs. *J. Pediatr. Endocrinol. Metab.* **9** Suppl 3, 303–312 (1996).

³¹ Doré, S. *et al.* Human osteoarthritic chondrocytes possess an increased number of insulin-like growth factor 1 binding sites but are unresponsive to its stimulation. Possible role of IGF-1-binding proteins. *Arthritis Rheum.* **37**, 253–263 (1994).

³² Kelley, K. M., Johnson, T. R., Ilan, J. & Moskowitz, R. W. Glucose regulation of the IGF response system in chondrocytes: induction of an IGF-I-resistant state. *Am. J. Physiol.* **276**, R1164–1171 (1999).

³³ Figenschau, Y., Knutsen, G., Shahazeydi, S., Johansen, O. & Sveinbjörnsson, B. Human articular chondrocytes express functional leptin receptors. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.***287**, 190–197 (2001).

³⁴ Kume, K. *et al.* Potential role of leptin in endochondral ossification. *J. Histochem. Cytochem.* **50**, 159–169 (2002).

³⁵ Williams, J. S., Jr, Bush-Joseph, C. A. & Bach, B. R., Jr Osteochondritis dissecans of the knee. *Am J Knee Surg* **11**, 221–232 (1998).

³⁶ Slater, M. R. *et al.* Diet and exercise as potential risk factors for osteochondritis dissecans in dogs. *Am. J. Vet. Res.* **53**, 2119–2124 (1992).

³⁷ Richardson, D. C. & Zentek, J. Nutrition and osteochondrosis. *Vet. Clin. North Am. Small Anim. Pract.* **28**, 115–135 (1998).

³⁸ Urban, J. P. & Roberts, S. Degeneration of the intervertebral disc. *Arthritis Res Ther* **5**, 120–130 (2003).

³⁹ Yu, J., Winlove, P. C., Roberts, S. & Urban, J. P. G. Elastic fibre organization in the intervertebral discs of the bovine tail. *J. Anat.* **201**, 465–475 (2002).

⁴⁰ Maroudas, A., Stockwell, R. A., Nachemson, A. & Urban, J. Factors involved in the nutrition of the human lumbar intervertebral disc: cellularity and diffusion of glucose in vitro. *J. Anat.***120**, 113–130 (1975).

⁴¹ Marchand, F. & Ahmed, A. M. Investigation of the laminate structure of lumbar disc anulus fibrosus. *Spine* **15**, 402–410 (1990).

⁴² Errington, R. J., Puustjarvi, K., White, I. R., Roberts, S. & Urban, J. P. Characterisation of cytoplasm-filled processes in cells of the intervertebral disc. *J. Anat.* **192** (**Pt 3**), 369–378 (1998).

⁴³ Bruehlmann, S. B., Rattner, J. B., Matyas, J. R. & Duncan, N. A. Regional variations in the cellular matrix of the annulus fibrosus of the intervertebral disc. *J. Anat.* **201**, 159–171 (2002).

⁴⁴ Roberts, S., Eisenstein, S. M., Menage, J., Evans, E. H. & Ashton, I. K. Mechanoreceptors in intervertebral discs. Morphology, distribution, and neuropeptides. *Spine* **20**, 2645–2651 (1995).

⁴⁵ Johnson, W. E. *et al.* Immunohistochemical detection of Schwann cells in innervated and vascularized human intervertebral discs. *Spine* **26**, 2550–2557 (2001).

⁴⁶ Eyre, D. R. & Muir, H. Quantitative analysis of types I and II collagens in human intervertebral discs at various ages. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **492**, 29–42 (1977).

⁴⁷ Urban, J. P., Maroudas, A., Bayliss, M. T. & Dillon, J. Swelling pressures of proteoglycans at the concentrations found in cartilaginous tissues. *Biorheology* **16**, 447–464 (1979).

⁴⁸ Donohue, P. J., Jahnke, M. R., Blaha, J. D. & Caterson, B. Characterization of link protein(s) from human intervertebral-disc tissues. *Biochem. J.* **251**, 739–747 (1988).

⁴⁹ Buckwalter, J. A. Aging and degeneration of the human intervertebral disc. *Spine* **20**, 1307–1314 (1995).

⁵⁰ Johnson, W. E., Eisenstein, S. M. & Roberts, S. Cell cluster formation in degenerate lumbar intervertebral discs is associated with increased disc cell proliferation. *Connect. Tissue Res.* **42**, 197–207 (2001).

⁵¹ Hastreiter, D., Ozuna, R. M. & Spector, M. Regional variations in certain cellular characteristics in human lumbar intervertebral discs, including the presence of α-smooth muscle actin.*J. Orthop. Res.* **19**, 597–604 (2001).

⁵² Gruber, H. E. & Hanley, E. N., Jr Analysis of aging and degeneration of the human intervertebral disc. Comparison of surgical specimens with normal controls. *Spine* **23**, 751–757 (1998).

⁵³ Trout, J. J., Buckwalter, J. A. & Moore, K. C. Ultrastructure of the human intervertebral disc: II. Cells of the nucleus pulposus. *Anat. Rec.* **204**, 307–314 (1982).

⁵⁴ Boos, N. *et al.* Classification of age-related changes in lumbar intervertebral discs: 2002 Volvo Award in basic science. *Spine* **27**, 2631–2644 (2002).

⁵⁵ Lyons, G., Eisenstein, S. M. & Sweet, M. B. Biochemical changes in intervertebral disc degeneration. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **673**, 443–453 (1981).

⁵⁶ Urban, J. P. & McMullin, J. F. Swelling pressure of the lumbar intervertebral discs: influence of age, spinal level, composition, and degeneration. *Spine* **13**, 179–187 (1988).

⁵⁷ Frobin, W., Brinckmann, P., Kramer, M. & Hartwig, E. Height of lumbar discs measured from radiographs compared with degeneration and height classified from MR images. *Eur Radiol***11**, 263–269 (2001).

⁵⁸ McNally, D. S., Shackleford, I. M., Goodship, A. E. & Mulholland, R. C. In vivo stress measurement can predict pain on discography. *Spine* **21**, 2580–2587 (1996).

⁵⁹ Adams, M. A., Dolan, P., Hutton, W. C. & Porter, R. W. Diurnal changes in spinal mechanics and their clinical significance. *J Bone Joint Surg Br* **72**, 266–270 (1990).

⁶⁰ Postacchini, F., Gumina, S., Cinotti, G., Perugia, D. & DeMartino, C. Ligamenta flava in lumbar disc herniation and spinal stenosis. Light and electron microscopic morphology. *Spine* **19**, 917–922 (1994).

⁶¹ Maroudas, A. Biophysical chemistry of cartilaginous tissues with special reference to solute and fluid transport. *Biorheology* **12**, 233–248 (1975).

⁶² Freemont, A. J. *et al.* Nerve ingrowth into diseased intervertebral disc in chronic back pain. *Lancet* **350**, 178–181 (1997).

⁶³ Johnson, W. E. B. *et al.* Human intervertebral disc aggrecan inhibits nerve growth in vitro. *Arthritis Rheum.* **46**, 2658–2664 (2002).

⁶⁴ Oegema, T. R., Jr. Biochemistry of the intervertebral disc. *Clin Sports Med* **12**, 419–439 (1993).

⁶⁵ Nachemson, A., Lewin, T., Maroudas, A. & Freeman, M. A. In vitro diffusion of dye through the end-plates and the annulus fibrosus of human lumbar inter-vertebral discs. *Acta Orthop Scand* **41**, 589–607 (1970).

⁶⁶ Urban, J. P. G., Smith, S. & Fairbank, J. C. T. Nutrition of the intervertebral disc. *Spine* **29**, 2700–2709 (2004).

⁶⁷ Holm, S., Maroudas, A., Urban, J. P., Selstam, G. & Nachemson, A. Nutrition of the intervertebral disc: solute transport and metabolism. *Connect. Tissue Res.* **8**, 101–119 (1981).

⁶⁸ Setton, L. A., Zhu, W., Weidenbaum, M., Ratcliffe, A. & Mow, V. C. Compressive properties of the cartilaginous end-plate of the baboon lumbar spine. *J. Orthop. Res.* **11**, 228–239 (1993).

⁶⁹ Roberts, S., Menage, J. & Urban, J. P. Biochemical and structural properties of the cartilage end-plate and its relation to the intervertebral disc. *Spine* **14**, 166–174 (1989).

⁷⁰ Bernick, S. & Cailliet, R. Vertebral end-plate changes with aging of human vertebrae. *Spine* **7**, 97–102 (1982).

⁷¹ Urban JPG, Maroudas A. Measurement of fixed charge density and partition coefficients in the intervertebral disc. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **586**, 166–78 (1979).

⁷² Kauppila, L. I. Prevalence of stenotic changes in arteries supplying the lumbar spine. A postmortem angiographic study on 140 subjects. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **56**, 591–595 (1997).

⁷³ Kurunlahti, M., Tervonen, O., Vanharanta, H., Ilkko, E. & Suramo, I. Association of atherosclerosis with low back pain and the degree of disc degeneration. *Spine* **24**, 2080–2084 (1999).

⁷⁴ Babhulkar S, Babhulkar S. Osteonecrosis in sickle cell hemoglobinopathy. In: Urbaniak JR, Jones JPJ, eds. *Osteonecrosis—Etiology, Diagnosis and Treatment*. American Orthopaedic Association. 131–3 (1997).

⁷⁵ Jones JPJ. Subchondral osteonecrosis can conceivably cause disk degeneration and primary osteoarthritis. In: Urbaniak JR, Jones JPJ, eds. *Osteonecrosis—Etiology, Diagnosis and Treatment*. American Orthopaedic Association.135–42 (1997).

⁷⁶ Hirano, N. *et al.* Analysis of rabbit intervertebral disc physiology based on water metabolism. II. Changes in normal intervertebral discs under axial vibratory load. *Spine* **13**, 1297–1302 (1988).

⁷⁷ Holm, S. & Nachemson, A. Nutrition of the intervertebral disc: acute effects of cigarette smoking. An experimental animal study. *Ups. J. Med. Sci.* **93**, 91–99 (1988).

⁷⁸ Wallace, A. L., Wyatt, B. C., McCarthy, I. D. & Hughes, S. P. Humoral regulation of blood flow in the vertebral endplate. *Spine* **19**, 1324–1328 (1994).

⁷⁹ Roberts, S., Urban, J. P., Evans, H. & Eisenstein, S. M. Transport properties of the human cartilage endplate in relation to its composition and calcification. *Spine* **21**, 415–420 (1996).

⁸⁰ Kitano, T. *et al.* Biochemical changes associated with the symptomatic human intervertebral disk. *Clin. Orthop. Relat. Res.* 372–377 (1993).

⁸¹ Diamant, B., Karlsson, J. & Nachemson, A. Correlation between lactate levels and pH in discs of patients with lumbar rhizopathies. *Experientia* **24**, 1195–1196 (1968).

⁸² Nguyen-minh, C., Haughton, V. M., Papke, R. A., An, H. & Censky, S. C. Measuring diffusion of solutes into intervertebral disks with MR imaging and paramagnetic contrast medium.*AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* **19**, 1781–1784 (1998).

⁸³ Bibby, S. R. S., Fairbank, J. C. T., Urban, M. R. & Urban, J. P. G. Cell viability in scoliotic discs in relation to disc deformity and nutrient levels. *Spine* **27**, 2220–2228; discussion 2227–2228 (2002).

⁸⁴ Urban, M. R., Fairbank, J. C., Bibby, S. R. & Urban, J. P. Intervertebral disc composition in neuromuscular scoliosis: changes in cell density and glycosaminoglycan concentration at the curve apex. *Spine* **26**, 610–617 (2001).

⁸⁵ Bartels, E. M., Fairbank, J. C., Winlove, C. P. & Urban, J. P. Oxygen and lactate concentrations measured in vivo in the intervertebral discs of patients with scoliosis and back pain. *Spine***23**, 1–7; discussion 8 (1998).

⁸⁶ Stephan, S., Johnson, W. E. & Roberts, S. The influence of nutrient supply and cell density on the growth and survival of intervertebral disc cells in 3D culture. *Eur Cell Mater* **22**, 97–108 (2011).

⁸⁷ Maniadakis, N. & Gray, A. The economic burden of back pain in the UK. *Pain* **84**, 95–103 (2000).

⁸⁸ Luoma, K. *et al.* Low back pain in relation to lumbar disc degeneration. *Spine* **25**, 487–492 (2000).

⁸⁹ Adams, M. A. & Hutton, W. C. Prolapsed intervertebral disc. A hyperflexion injury 1981 Volvo Award in Basic Science. *Spine* **7**, 184–191 (1982).

⁹⁰ Moore, R. J., Vernon-Roberts, B., Fraser, R. D., Osti, O. L. & Schembri, M. The origin and fate of herniated lumbar intervertebral disc tissue. *Spine* **21**, 2149–2155 (1996).

⁹¹ Choi, Y.-S. Pathophysiology of degenerative disc disease. *Asian Spine J* **3**, 39–44 (2009).

⁹² Kang, J. D. *et al.* Herniated lumbar intervertebral discs spontaneously produce matrix metalloproteinases, nitric oxide, interleukin-6, and prostaglandin E2. *Spine* 21, 271–277 (1996).

⁹³ Bijlsma, J. W. J., Berenbaum, F. & Lafeber, F. P. J. G. Osteoarthritis: an update with relevance for clinical practice. *Lancet* **377**, 2115–2126 (2011).

⁹⁴ Hunter, D. J. & Lo, G. H. The management of osteoarthritis: an overview and call to appropriate conservative treatment. *Med. Clin. North Am.* **93**, 127–143, xi (2009).

⁹⁵ Helmick, C. G. *et al.* Estimates of the prevalence of arthritis and other rheumatic conditions in the United States. Part I. *Arthritis Rheum.* **58**, 15–25 (2008).

⁹⁶ National and state medical expenditures and lost earnings attributable to arthritis and other rheumatic conditions--United States, 2003. *MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.* **56**, 4–7 (2007).

⁹⁷ Walker, J. Effective management strategies for osteoarthritis. *Br J Nurs* **20**, 81–85 (2011).

⁹⁸ Williams, R. J., 3rd & Harnly, H. W. Microfracture: indications, technique, and results. *Instr Course Lect* **56**, 419–428 (2007).

⁹⁹ Sarzi-Puttini, P. *et al.* Osteoarthritis: An overview of the disease and its treatment strategies. *Seminars in Arthritis and Rheumatism* **35**, 1–10 (2005).

¹⁰⁰ Hardingham, T. E., Rayan, V. & Lewthwaite, J. C. Regulation of cartilage matrix synthesis by chondrocytes. *Rev Rhum Ed Fr* **61**, 93S–98S (1994).

¹⁰¹ Wang, J., Verdonk, P., Elewaut, D., Veys, E. M. & Verbruggen, G. Homeostasis of the extracellular matrix of normal and osteoarthritic human articular cartilage chondrocytes in vitro. *Osteoarthr. Cartil.* **11**, 801–809 (2003).

¹⁰² Nesic, D. *et al.* Cartilage tissue engineering for degenerative joint disease. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* **58**, 300–322 (2006).

¹⁰³ Harris, J. D., Siston, R. A., Pan, X. & Flanigan, D. C. Autologous chondrocyte implantation: a systematic review. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* **92**, 2220–2233 (2010).

¹⁰⁴ Harris, J. D. *et al.* Failures, re-operations, and complications after autologous chondrocyte implantation--a systematic review. *Osteoarthr. Cartil.* **19**, 779–791 (2011).

¹⁰⁵ Keeney, M., Lai, J. H. & Yang, F. Recent progress in cartilage tissue engineering. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **22**, 734–740 (2011).

¹⁰⁶ Moreira-Teixeira, L. S., Georgi, N., Leijten, J., Wu, L. & Karperien, M. Cartilage tissue engineering. *Endocr Dev* **21**, 102–115 (2011).

¹⁰⁷ Gloria, A., De Santis, R. & Ambrosio, L. Polymer-based composite scaffolds for tissue engineering. *J Appl Biomater Biomech* **8**, 57–67 (2010).

¹⁰⁸ Stoddart, M. J., Grad, S., Eglin, D. & Alini, M. Cells and biomaterials in cartilage tissue engineering. *Regen Med* **4**, 81–98 (2009).

¹⁰⁹ Zhang, C. *et al.* Oligo(trimethylene carbonate)-poly(ethylene glycol)oligo(trimethylene carbonate) triblock-based hydrogels for cartilage tissue engineering. *Acta Biomater* **7**, 3362–3369 (2011).

¹¹⁰ Mouthuy, P. A., Ye, H., Triffitt, J., Oommen, G. & Cui, Z. Physico-chemical characterization of functional electrospun scaffolds for bone and cartilage tissue engineering. *Proc Inst Mech Eng H* **224**, 1401–1414 (2010).

¹¹¹ Bi, L. *et al.* Effects of different cross-linking conditions on the properties of genipin-cross-linked chitosan/collagen scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering. *J Mater Sci Mater Med***22**, 51–62 (2011).

¹¹² Hollister, S. J. Porous scaffold design for tissue engineering. *Nat Mater* **4**, 518–524 (2005).

¹¹³ Jackson, A. R., Huang, C.-Y. & Gu, W. Y. Effect of endplate calcification and mechanical deformation on the distribution of glucose in intervertebral disc: a 3D finite element study.*Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Engin* **14**, 195–204 (2011).

¹¹⁴ Huang, C.-Y., Travascio, F. & Gu, W. Y. Quantitative analysis of exogenous IGF-1 administration of intervertebral disc through intradiscal injection. *J Biomech* **45**, 1149–1155 (2012).

¹¹⁵ Chan, S. & Gantenbein-Ritter, B. Intervertebral disc regeneration or repair with biomaterials and stem cell therapy - feasible or fiction? *Swiss Medical Weekly*(2012)

¹¹⁶ Kara, B., Tulum, Z. & Acar, U. Functional results and the risk factors of reoperations after lumbar disc surgery. *Eur Spine J* **14**, 43–48 (2005).

¹¹⁷ Saal, J. A. & Saal, J. S. Intradiscal electrothermal treatment for chronic discogenic low back pain: prospective outcome study with a minimum 2-year followup. *Spine* **27**, 966–973; discussion 973–974 (2002).

¹¹⁸Waddell G. The Back Pain Revolution. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone; 1998.

¹¹⁹ Fritzell, P., Hägg, O., Wessberg, P. & Nordwall, A. 2001 Volvo Award Winner in Clinical Studies: Lumbar fusion versus nonsurgical treatment for chronic low back pain: a multicenter randomized controlled trial from the Swedish Lumbar Spine Study Group. *Spine* **26**, 2521–2532; discussion 2532–2534 (2001).

¹²⁰ Weber, H. Lumbar disc herniation. A controlled, prospective study with ten years of observation. *Spine* **8**, 131–140 (1983).

¹²¹ Gibson, J. N., Grant, I. C. & Waddell, G. Surgery for lumbar disc prolapse. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* CD001350 (2000).

¹²² Roberts, S., Menage, J. & Urban, J. P. Biochemical and structural properties of the cartilage end-plate and its relation to the intervertebral disc. *Spine* **14**, 166–174 (1989).

¹²³ Osada, R. *et al.* Autocrine/paracrine mechanism of insulin-like growth factor-1 secretion, and the effect of insulin-like growth factor-1 on proteoglycan synthesis in bovine intervertebral discs. *J. Orthop. Res.* **14**, 690–699 (1996).

¹²⁴ Choi, Y.-S. Pathophysiology of degenerative disc disease. *Asian Spine J* **3**, 39–44 (2009).

¹²⁵ Calderon, L. *et al.* Type II collagen-hyaluronan hydrogel--a step towards a scaffold for intervertebral disc tissue engineering. *Eur Cell Mater* **20**, 134–148 (2010).

¹²⁶ Chou, A. I., Akintoye, S. O. & Nicoll, S. B. Photo-crosslinked alginate hydrogels support enhanced matrix accumulation by nucleus pulposus cells in vivo. *Osteoarthr. Cartil.* **17**, 1377–1384 (2009).

¹²⁷ Reza, A. T. & Nicoll, S. B. Characterization of novel photocrosslinked carboxymethylcellulose hydrogels for encapsulation of nucleus pulposus cells. *Acta Biomater* **6**, 179–186 (2010).

¹²⁸ Moss, I. L., Gordon, L., Woodhouse, K. A., Whyne, C. M. & Yee, A. J. M. A novel thiol-modified hyaluronan and elastin-like polypetide composite material for tissue engineering of the nucleus pulposus of the intervertebral disc. *Spine* **36**, 1022–1029 (2011).

¹²⁹ He, F. & Pei, M. Rejuvenation of nucleus pulposus cells using extracellular matrix deposited by synovium-derived stem cells. *Spine* **37**, 459–469 (2012).

¹³⁰ Richardson, S. M. *et al.* Mesenchymal stem cells in regenerative medicine: opportunities and challenges for articular cartilage and intervertebral disc tissue engineering. *J. Cell. Physiol.* **222**, 23–32 (2010).

¹³¹ Hoogendoorn, R. J. W. *et al.* Adipose stem cells for intervertebral disc regeneration: current status and concepts for the future. *J. Cell. Mol. Med.* **12**, 2205–2216 (2008).

¹³² Orozco, L. *et al.* Intervertebral disc repair by autologous mesenchymal bone marrow cells: a pilot study. *Transplantation* **92**, 822–828 (2011).

¹³³ Serigano, K. *et al.* Effect of cell number on mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in a canine disc degeneration model. *J. Orthop. Res.* **28**, 1267–1275 (2010).

¹³⁴ Chan, S. C. W. *et al.* Cryopreserved intervertebral disc with injected bone marrowderived stromal cells: a feasibility study using organ culture. *Spine J* **10**, 486–496 (2010).

¹³⁵ Gantenbein-Ritter, B., Benneker, L. M., Alini, M. & Grad, S. Differential response of human bone marrow stromal cells to either TGF- $\beta(1)$ or rhGDF-5. *Eur Spine J* **20**, 962–971 (2011).

¹³⁶ Stoyanov, J. V. *et al.* Role of hypoxia and growth and differentiation factor-5 on differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells towards intervertebral nucleus pulposus-like cells.*Eur Cell Mater* **21**, 533–547 (2011).
¹³⁷ Ehlicke, F., Freimark, D., Heil, B., Dorresteijn, A. & Czermak, P. Intervertebral disc regeneration: influence of growth factors on differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSC). *Int J Artif Organs* **33**, 244–252 (2010).

¹³⁸ Xu, J. *et al.* Chondrogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells in three-dimensional alginate gels. *Tissue Eng Part A* **14**, 667–680 (2008).

¹³⁹ Strassburg, S., Richardson, S. M., Freemont, A. J. & Hoyland, J. A. Co-culture induces mesenchymal stem cell differentiation and modulation of the degenerate human nucleus pulposus cell phenotype. *Regen Med* **5**, 701–711 (2010).

¹⁴⁰ Korecki, C. L., Taboas, J. M., Tuan, R. S. & Iatridis, J. C. Notochordal cell conditioned medium stimulates mesenchymal stem cell differentiation toward a young nucleus pulposus phenotype. *Stem Cell Res Ther* **1**, 18 (2010).

¹⁴¹ Than, K. D. *et al.* Bone morphogenetic proteins and degenerative disk disease. *Neurosurgery* **70**, 996–1002; discussion 1002 (2012).

¹⁴² Vadalà, G. *et al.* Mesenchymal stem cells injection in degenerated intervertebral disc: cell leakage may induce osteophyte formation. *J Tissue Eng Regen Med* **6**, 348–355 (2012).

¹⁴³ Benneker, L. M., Heini, P. F., Alini, M., Anderson, S. E. & Ito, K. 2004 Young Investigator Award Winner: vertebral endplate marrow contact channel occlusions and intervertebral disc degeneration. *Spine* **30**, 167–173 (2005).

¹⁴⁴ Kurunlahti, M., Kerttula, L., Jauhiainen, J., Karppinen, J. & Tervonen, O. Correlation of diffusion in lumbar intervertebral disks with occlusion of lumbar arteries: a study in adult volunteers. *Radiology* **221**, 779–786 (2001).

¹⁴⁵ Rinkler, C. *et al.* Influence of low glucose supply on the regulation of gene expression by nucleus pulposus cells and their responsiveness to mechanical loading. *J Neurosurg Spine***13**, 535–542 (2010).

¹⁴⁶ Sekiguchi, M., Konno, S. & Kikuchi, S. The effects of a 5-HT2A receptor antagonist on blood flow in lumbar disc herniation: application of nucleus pulposus in a canine model. *Eur Spine J* **17**, 307–313 (2008).

¹⁴⁷ Turgut, M., Uysal, A., Uslu, S., Tavus, N. & Yurtseven, M. E. The effects of calcium channel antagonist nimodipine on end-plate vascularity of the degenerated intervertebral disc in rats. *J Clin Neurosci* **10**, 219–223 (2003).

¹⁴⁸ Toma, C., Wagner, W. R., Bowry, S., Schwartz, A. & Villanueva, F. Fate of culture-expanded mesenchymal stem cells in the microvasculature in vivo observations of cell kinetics. *Circulation Research* **104**, 398–402 (2009).

¹⁴⁹ Acosta, F. L., Jr *et al.* Porcine intervertebral disc repair using allogeneic juvenile articular chondrocytes or mesenchymal stem cells. *Tissue Eng Part A* **17**, 3045–3055 (2011).

¹⁵⁰ Deschepper, M. *et al.* Pro-angiogenic and pro-survival functions of glucose in human mesenchymal stem cells upon transplantation. *Stem Cells* (2012)

¹⁵¹ Bibby, S. R. S., Jones, D. A., Ripley, R. M. & Urban, J. P. G. Metabolism of the intervertebral disc: effects of low levels of oxygen, glucose, and pH on rates of energy metabolism of bovine nucleus pulposus cells. *Spine* **30**, 487–496 (2005).

¹⁵² Shirazi-Adl, A., Taheri, M. & Urban, J. P. . Analysis of cell viability in intervertebral disc: Effect of endplate permeability on cell population. *Journal of Biomechanics* **43**, 1330–1336 (2010).

¹⁵³ Feng, G. *et al.* Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells and nucleus pulposus cells in a degenerative disc model in rabbits: a comparison of 2 cell types as potential candidates for disc regeneration. *J Neurosurg Spine* **14**, 322–329 (2011).

¹⁵⁴ Hiyama, A. *et al.* Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells in a canine disc degeneration model. *J. Orthop. Res.* **26**, 589–600 (2008).

¹⁵⁵ Copland, I. B. & Galipeau, J. Death and inflammation following somatic cell transplantation. *Semin Immunopathol* **33**, 535–550 (2011).

¹⁵⁶ Horner, H. A. & Urban, J. P. 2001 Volvo Award Winner in Basic Science Studies: Effect of nutrient supply on the viability of cells from the nucleus pulposus of the intervertebral disc. *Spine* **26**, 2543–2549 (2001).

¹⁵⁷ Elliott, D. M. *et al.* The effect of relative needle diameter in puncture and sham injection animal models of degeneration. *Spine* **33**, 588–596 (2008).

¹⁵⁸ Korecki, C. L., Costi, J. J. & Iatridis, J. C. Needle puncture injury affects intervertebral disc mechanics and biology in an organ culture model. *Spine* **33**, 235–241 (2008).

¹⁵⁹ Frymoyer, J. W. *et al.* Risk factors in low-back pain. An epidemiological survey. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* **65**, 213–218 (1983).

¹⁶⁰ Bibby, S. R. S. & Urban, J. P. G. Effect of nutrient deprivation on the viability of intervertebral disc cells. *Eur Spine J* **13**, 695–701 (2004).

¹⁶¹ Soukane, D. M., Shirazi-Adl, A. & Urban, J. P. G. Computation of coupled diffusion of oxygen, glucose and lactic acid in an intervertebral disc. *J Biomech* **40**, 2645–2654 (2007).

¹⁶² Fernando, H. N. *et al.* Mechanical loading affects the energy metabolism of intervertebral disc cells. *J. Orthop. Res.* **29**, 1634–1641 (2011).

¹⁶³ Kawahito, S., Kitahata, H. & Oshita, S. Problems associated with glucose toxicity: role of hyperglycemia-induced oxidative stress. *World J. Gastroenterol.* **15**, 4137–4142 (2009).

¹⁶⁴ Guehring, T. *et al.* Notochordal intervertebral disc cells: Sensitivity to nutrient deprivation. *Arthritis & Rheumatism* **60**, 1026–1034 (2009).

¹⁶⁵ Schneider, N. *et al.* Oxygen consumption of equine articular chondrocytes: Influence of applied oxygen tension and glucose concentration during culture. *Cell Biol. Int.* **31**, 878–886 (2007).